1956

# Karna Held v. American Linen Supply Company : Brief of the Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

This cause is before this Honorable Court pursuant to its Order (R. 23) dated April 25, 1956, granting appellant's (defendant below) Petition for Interlocutory Appeal (R. 25-36) from the Order of the District Court (R. 21) denying appellant's Motion to Dismiss (R. 18). (The citation "R." followed by a number refers to pages of the Record on Appeal).



## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent (plaintiff below), a former employee of the appellant, brought this action in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, alleging that appellant had discharged her in breach of contract, and seeking damages in the amount of \$31,900.00 for that breach (R. 1-3). Specifically respondent alleged:

That on the 2nd day of December, 1954, defendant discharged plaintiff and terminated her employment relationship. That said discharge was without good and sufficient cause and was *in violation of the terms and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement* between defendant and the Amalgamated (sic) Clothing Workers of America, local union No. 562. (Paragraph IV of Complaint, R. 2, emphasis added).

Respondent had been employed by appellant for several years as a press operator. She was a member of the Amalgamated Clothing Workers of America, Local Union No. 562, (R. 1, 4), which union had entered into a written collective bargaining agreement with appellant covering certain terms and conditions of employment for certain job classifications at appellant's Salt Lake City plant, including the job classification in which respondent was employed (R. 44-48). A copy of that collective bargaining agreement is printed beginning at page 20 of



the Appendix to this brief for the convenience of the Court.

It is undisputed that at the time of her discharge by appellant on or about December 2, 1954 said collective bargaining agreement was in full force and effect, and that respondent's job-classification was covered thereby (R. 11).

Respondent protested her discharge, and the union, on her behalf and with her knowledge, consent, and participation, submitted the grievance to arbitration before William H. Leary, agreed upon by the union and appellant as sole arbitrator, upon the following issue, to-wit:

Was the discharge of Karna Held on December 2nd, 1954, by the Company in violation of Article III of the contract between the parties? (R. 50).

Article III of the contract reads as follows:

### ARTICLE III DISCRIMINATION

The Company agrees not to suspend, discipline, discharge or discriminate against any employee for lawful union activities. (R. 44, Appendix p. 21).

The arbitrator, after hearing testimony adduced by both the appellant and the union, made his written decision on April 4, 1955 in which he answered the issue submitted in favor of appellant, saying:

2. The discharge of Karma (sic) Held on December 2, 1954, by the Company *was not* in violation of Article III of the Contract between the parties. (R. 55, emphasis added).

Consequently it is clear that respondent cannot rely here on an alleged violation of Article III of the contract. In fact it has been stipulated that the question of a violation of Article III is not an issue in this case. (R. 43).

Appellant answered respondent's complaint, alleging that it failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, and denying that respondent's discharge was without just cause, or that it was in violation of the collective bargaining agreement (R. 4, 5).

The case came on for Pre-Trial Hearing before the Honorable Martin M. Larson, District Judge, on January 28, 1956 (R. 19) (the Pre-Trial Order reciting February 28, 1956 is in error) at which time appellant filed its written Motion to Dismiss (R. 18). The Trial Court took the matter under advisement and after considering the written memoranda and arguments of both parties the Trial Court made and entered its written Order dated March 6, 1956 (R. 21), wherein it denied appellant's Motion to Dismiss, holding that:

1. The Master Labor Agreement between the defendant and the union, *even in the*

*absence of an express provision so providing, gives to each employee covered thereby a right to continuing employment which cannot be terminated by the defendant as employer except for just cause.*

2. Any employee working under such a labor agreement has the right to a jury trial on the issue of whether or not his discharge was for just cause. Consequently plaintiff has a right to maintain this action. (R. 21, 22, emphasis added).

A copy of that Order is printed beginning at page 29 of the Appendix to this brief for the convenience of the Court.

Pursuant to Rule 72 (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, appellant thereupon duly filed in this Honorable Court its Petition for Interlocutory Appeal from said Order (R. 25-29). Said petition was granted by this Honorable Court on April 25, 1956 (R. 23).

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING ITS ORDER DATED MARCH 6, 1956 IN WHICH IT: (a) HELD THAT THE MASTER LABOR AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE APPELLANT AND THE UNION, EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EXPRESS PROVISION SO PROVIDING, GIVES TO EACH EMPLOYEE COVERED THEREBY A RIGHT TO CONTINUING EMPLOYMENT WHICH CANNOT BE TERMINATED BY THE APPELLANT AS EMPLOYER EXCEPT FOR JUST CAUSE; (b) HELD THAT ANY EM-

PLOYEE WORKING UNDER SUCH A LABOR AGREEMENT HAS THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER OR NOT HIS DISCHARGE WAS FOR JUST CAUSE; (c) DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT.

## ARGUMENT

Respondent has alleged that her discharge by appellant was "without good and sufficient cause" and was "in violation of the terms and conditions of the collective bargaining agreement" (R. 2). Appellant strongly contends that it did have just cause for discharging respondent. However, for purposes of this appeal, it is immaterial whether or not such just cause actually and in fact did exist, as will be developed in the following argument.

### 1. Basic Concepts of the Employer-Employee Relationship.

In a free country employment is a relationship which depends upon mutual consent of the employer and the employee. It may be described as a contractual relationship, terminable at will under the common law. No free man can be compelled to work for another against his will, and an employer has the unquestioned right to discharge or lay off employees at will, except insofar as this right has been restricted by statute or bargained away by contract. As the Maryland Court of Appeals has so aptly put it:

"\* \* \* when not bound by contract, every free man has a natural right to work for

whom he pleases, and to cease to work when he chooses, without liability on his part to the employer. To enforce the opposite view would lead to the establishment of involuntary servitude. Every employer must recognize this right on the part of the employees, and, if by such action loss results, it is *damnum absque injuria*. *The employer has the same undoubted right, when not prevented by contract, to discharge the employees*, which may, and in many cases does, result in loss and injury to the employee and those dependent upon him; yet this loss and injury, too, must be suffered by the employee without being able to maintain an action therefor against the employer.” *Bricklayers, M. & P. Int. Union v. Ruff & Sons, Inc.* (Md. 1931) 160 Md. 483, 154 Atl. 52, 83 ALR 448, 456, (emphasis added).

The text writers have stated the rule as follows:

“In the absence of something in the contract of employment to fix a *definite term of service*, or *other contractual provision to restrict the right of the employer to discharge*, or some statutory restriction upon this right, *an employer may lawfully discharge an employee at what time he pleases and for what cause he chooses without thereby becoming liable to an action against him.*” (35 Am. Jur. 469, Master and Servant, Section 34, citing numerous cases. Emphasis added).

See also 56 C.J.S. 411, Master and Servant, Sec. 29 and cases cited therein.

This right of an employer to discharge at will has been said to be “a constitutional right of the



utmost importance". *N.L.R.B. v. Citizens News Co.* (CA 9th 1943) 134 F.2d 970. And another court has said an employee "may be discharged by the employer for a good reason, a poor reason, or no reason at all, so long as the terms of the statute are not violated." *N.L.R.B. v. Condenser Corp.* (CA 3rd 1942) 128 F. 2d 67, 10 LRRM 483.

As has been stated above, an employer's otherwise complete and absolute right to discharge without liability for so doing can be limited by statute or by contractual provision. The typical limitation imposed by state and federal labor laws is that an employer may not discharge because of lawful union activity on the part of an employee. It should be noted that this same limitation is also imposed upon the appellant here by the terms of Article III of the Master Labor Agreement (R. 44, Appendix p. 20). However, it is stipulated in this case that there is no question of a violation of Article III herein involved.

## **2. Collective Bargaining Agreements and Employment Contracts Distinguished.**

There is a basic difference between a collective bargaining agreement and an employment contract. The former is typically an agreement in writing between an employer and a union which sets forth certain terms and conditions for the job classifica-

tions covered thereby. Ordinarily the individual employees are not parties thereto, although they benefit directly therefrom, and in several jurisdictions they can directly enforce the provisions thereof, usually under the theory of third party beneficiary. A collective bargaining agreement usually does not create or specify definite tenure of employment for the individual employees, but merely provides that in the event employees work in the job classifications covered by the agreement that the terms therein contained shall be applied. Generally such agreements in effect establish minimums as to wages and other conditions below which an employer cannot go.

On the other hand, an employment contract is ordinarily between an employer and the individual employee. While it may be written, it is most generally oral. It is the device by which the actual hiring is accomplished and the employer-employee relationship is established. It is this individual employment contract, generally which creates the job tenure, if any in fact exists. Such individual employment contracts or hirings are of course subject to and entitled to the benefits of the collective bargaining agreement if one exists. Mr. Justice Jackson, in speaking for the United States Supreme Court, has stated it in this manner:

“Contract in labor law is a term the implications of which must be determined from



the connection in which it appears. Collective bargaining between employer and the representative of a unit, usually a union, results in an accord as to terms which will govern hiring and work and pay in that unit. The result is not, however, a contract of employment except in rare cases; *no one has a job by reason of it and no obligation to any individual ordinarily comes into existence from it alone.* The negotiations between union and management result in what often has been called a trade agreement, rather than a contract of employment. Without pushing the analogy too far, the agreement may be likened to the tariffs established by a carrier, to standard provisions prescribed by supervising authorities for insurance policies, or to utility schedules of rates and rules for service, which do not of themselves establish any relationships but which do govern the terms of the shipper or insurer or customer relationship whenever and with whomever it may be established.

\* \* \* \*

“After the collective trade agreement is made, the individuals who shall benefit by it are identified by individual hirings. *The employer, except as restricted by the collective agreement itself and except that he must engage in no unfair labor practice or discrimination, is free to select those he will employ or discharge.* But the terms of the employment already have been traded out. There is little left to individual agreement except the act of hiring. This hiring may be by writing or by word of mouth or may be implied from conduct. In the sense of contracts of hiring, individual contracts between the employer and

employee are not forbidden, but indeed are necessitated by the collective bargaining procedure." *J. I. Case Company v. N.L.R.B.* (U.S. Sup. Ct. 1944) 321 U.S. 332; 64 S. Ct. 576; 88 L. Ed. 762; 14 LRRM 501, 503, emphasis added.

### 3. Contractual Limitations on Appellant's Right to Discharge.

#### (a) Term of Employment

The general rule is that a general or indefinite hiring is *presumed* to be a hiring at will (56 C.J.S., Master and Servant, Section 8 (b)), and in the absence of express stipulations as to duration a contract of employment may be terminated at the will of either party without cause and without liability to the other for such termination. *Culver v. Kurn* (Missouri 1946) 193 SW 602, 166 A.L.R. 644. The rule goes even further, to the effect that even where the employment contract, without specifying a fixed duration, purports to be for life, or for permanent employment, where the employee furnishes no consideration other than his services incidental to the employment, such an employment contract amounts only to an indefinite general hiring, terminable at the will of either party, and that a discharge without cause does not constitute a breach of such contract as will justify recovery of damages. (Annotation: 135 A.L.R. 646, citing many cases including *Price v. Western Loan & Savings Co.* (Utah 1909)

35 U. 379, 100 Pac. 677). In the *Price* case this Honorable Court said:

“\* \* \* As hereinbefore observed, the contract, neither expressly nor impliedly, bound him to act as appellant’s attorney for any specified period of time. *Therefore it lacked the essential element of mutuality of obligation and was terminable at will by either party.*” (ibid, 100 Pac. 677, 680, emphasis added).

We submit that a cursory examination of the Master Labor Agreement between the appellant and the union will show that it does not constitute an agreement for a *definite term of service*. We submit that under the general rules, *supra*, the employment of the respondent was for an indefinite term and consequently could be terminated at the will of either appellant or respondent. She could have terminated her employment at any time without incurring any legal liability for such termination. We submit that the corollary of respondent’s right to terminate at any time is the right of appellant to terminate the employment at any time, for if this were not the case there would be no mutuality of obligation and consequently no legally enforceable agreement for continuing employment. *Price v. Western Loan & Savings Co.*, *supra*; *Swart v. Huston* (Kansas 1941) 117 P. 2d 579.

Since the Master Labor Agreement contains no

provision expressing or implying employment for a definite term the presumption is that respondent's employment was terminable at will and she must fail in her case unless the contract otherwise restricts appellant's right to discharge.

(b) Other Provisions of the Master Labor Agreement

Since the agreement does not provide for a definite term of employment, and since Article III of the agreement is not herein involved, the basic issue narrows itself to a search for some other provisions of the agreement upon which the Trial Court's Order may be justified. Such a search is fruitless, for of course there are no such provisions. It should be remembered that the burden is on respondent to show that the agreement gives her the right she seeks to enforce, that is, the right to continue employment for as long as she wants it. The agreement must affirmatively create respondent's right to continuing employment. Appellant's right to discharge exists unimpaired unless affirmatively taken away by the agreement.

A contractual provision which limits or restricts such a "constitutional right of utmost importance" (*Citizens News Co.* case, *supra*) must clearly show that such was the intent of the parties. There is no express provision which gives respondent the cause of action she seeks to enforce, and we submit

that there are no provisions from which such a limitation on appellant's right to discharge can be reasonably inferred or implied.

At the Pre-Trial hearing, respondent urged and relied upon the seniority provisions of the agreement. Those provisions do not support respondent's cause of action. Seniority rights arise solely by virtue of contract. They are not inherent, natural, or constitutional rights. *Colbert v. Railroad Trainmen* (CA. 9th 1953) 206 F. 2d. 9, 32 LRRM 2459; *Zdero v. Briggs Mfg. Co.* (Mich. 1953) 61 NW 2d 615, 33 LRRM 2405. In this regard the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit has recently said:

*“Collective bargaining agreements creating a seniority system do not create a permanent status or give an indefinite tenure to employees. (Citing cases). Seniority among railroad employees is contractual and does not arise from mere employment. (Citing cases). Those who acquire seniority rights under a contract are bound by the possibility that the contract may be changed, and the rights thereunder revised or abrogated. (Citing cases). Employees have no vested right in the seniority created by contract and the Railway Labor Act does not undertake to guarantee them a job for life. The employer has the right to select and discharge them, so long as the collective bargaining processes are not impaired.” (Citing cases). McMullans v. Kansas, Okla., & Gulf Ry. (CA 10th 1956) 229 F.2d 50, 37 LRRM 2363, 2364.*

Where seniority rights do in fact exist as a result of contract they are not inconsistent with the employer's right to discharge. (56 C.J.S. 64, citing *Fine v. Pratt* (Texas) 150 S.W. 2d 308). Since they exist by virtue of contract only, seniority rights are only as broad as the express terms of the contract. The *only* language in the agreement here relating to seniority is as follows:

## ARTICLE VIII

### SENIORITY

The Company agrees in layoffs and re-hiring of employees to observe the principle of departmental seniority wherever reasonable in the light of efficiency. The Company, however, to be the judge of qualifications in such matters. In applying seniority, the Employer shall take into consideration length of service, merit and ability of the employee. (R. 46, Appendix p. 23).

Note that under the agreement seniority will apply *only in lay-offs and rehiring*s, and even in those cases *only when reasonable in the light of efficiency, the company to be the judge*. The term "lay-off" means a temporary or prolonged separation *as a result of lack of work*. (CCH Glossary of Labor Terms). No one contends that respondent was merely "laid off".

Respondent argues that the above seniority clause gives her the complete right to uninterrupted



job tenure until she is guilty of conduct constituting “just cause” for discharge. This argument does violence to the English language and to common sense and reason.

We submit that the provisions of the agreement individually and/or collectively do not constitute a contractual limitation upon appellant’s complete and absolute right to discharge. Above all, those provisions do not give to respondent “a right to continuing employment which cannot be terminated except for just cause” as the Trial Court held in its Order. The ruling of the Trial Court in effect adds an express restriction against discharge to every collective bargaining agreement by judicial fiat. It grants to each employee covered by such an agreement a substantial property right, permanent job tenure, all without the agreement or consent of the contracting parties. The ruling overturns the historical and heretofore unquestioned rights of employers which have always existed. It is extremely doubtful that such a rule would be constitutional if established by the legislature. For it to be established by the District Court is unthinkable.

#### 4. The Russell Case.

At the Pre-Trial respondent’s counsel cited the Utah case of *Russell v. Ogden Union Ry and Depot Co.*, (Utah 1952) ——Utah——, 247 P. 2d 257, as



being a Utah case supporting respondent's position. A cursory reading of it shows that contrary to the impression that counsel tried to create the Russell case does not support respondent's contention.

In the *Russell* case, Russell sued his employer for an alleged arbitrary and wrongful discharge, and recovered substantial damages in the trial court. This Honorable Court reversed the judgment for plaintiff and remanded the case for a new trial. The contract of employment relied on by Russell provided that:

“\* \* \* No yardman will be suspended or dismissed *without first having a fair and impartial hearing and his guilt established.*  
\* \* \*” (Emphasis added).

The case was reversed for certain errors in refusing to allow the employer to present evidence at the trial, and for errors with regard to damages.

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