1956

Karna Held v. American Linen Supply Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN AMERICAN LINEN SUPPLY CO. AND AMALGAMATED CLOTHING WORKERS LOCAL UNION 562 GRANTS TO THE WORKERS OF AMERICAN LINEN SUPPLY COMPANY A RIGHT TO CONTINUING EMPLOYMENT WHICH CAN ONLY BE TERMINATED FOR JUST CAUSE.

A careful examination of the Master Agreement will reveal that the American Linen Supply Co. and the Amalgamated Clothing Workers Local Union 562 agreed that the employees of American Linen Supply Co. would be granted a right to continuing employment, that this

right to continuing employment would not be something which could be arbitrarily and capriciously terminated by unilateral action of the employer.

If the position of defendant is correct the collective bargaining agreement has no substance whatsoever. It is an illusory agreement. Any time defendant desires to cease to be governed by the provisions of the Master Agreement it could arbitrarily and capriciously terminate the employment of all members of the Amalgamated Clothing Workers Local Union 562. If it had a right to discharge which it could exercise arbitrarily whenever one of its employees was obtaining that degree of seniority which gave to the employee a right to certain types of preferred employment, the employment of such an employee could be terminated. The same would be true as to the maternity rights which are granted to the employees. Whenever an employee sought maternity leave her employment could be terminated and no grounds would need be recited for the termination.

It is submitted that an interpretation which defendant seeks would reduce the Master Agreement to annulity and is therefore one which is absurd and cannot, as a consequence, be the interpretation which was intended by the parties to the agreement.

If the defendant has the right to arbitrarily and capriciously discharge its employees who are members

of the local union, that would not promote the objects which are set forth in Article I. A right to arbitrarily and capriciously discharge, is not a right which would effectuate a spirit of fair dealing between the employer and the employee.

A right to arbitrarily and capriciously discharge employees would not bring about and establish a high order of discipline and efficiency by the intelligent co-operation of employee and employer. It would defeat the second objective set forth in Article I of the agreement.

Certainly a right to arbitrarily and capriciously discharge employees would defeat the objects of sub-paragraph (c) which provides for adjustments of all matters by arbitration.

On this particular matter we need not remain in doubt further than to examine the Arbitrator's decision, for the Arbitrator has determined that the matter of the discharge of an individual employee was a fit subject for arbitration under the terms of the agreement. Both parties, now before this court, are bound by the Arbitrator's opinion. Within the four corners of the Arbitrator's decision, plaintiff respectfully submits there is a further finding, that under the terms of the Master Agreement, plaintiff cannot be discharged without "just cause".

The basic contention of defendant is that because there is no specific provision in the Master Agreement, which categorically states that the company shall not discharge without “just cause”, none can be inferred. Such a provision in collective bargaining agreements is not a usual thing. A number of such agreements have been examined by boards of arbitration as well as by this court and there was no specific provision against discharge without cause.

In *Russell v. Ogden Union Railway and Depot Company*, U.....247 P.2d, 257, this court had before it an example of a collective bargaining agreement which did not specifically provide that the individual employee could not be discharged without cause. Within the four corners of the agreement, however, there was provisions for a hearing on grounds cited for discharges. It was determined by the court that an employee had a right to continuing employment and could not be discharged without just cause.

It would appear that both parties to collective bargaining agreements have assumed that the employer was not claiming or attempting to reserve his right to arbitrarily and capriciously discharge an employee. As a consequence, the most obvious of the provisions was not placed in the agreement. Such was the situation in the *Russell* case.

The right of an employee where a collective bargaining agreement which does not, by its terms, specifically set out and provide that the employee shall not be discharged without good and sufficient cause, has been before a number of Boards of Arbitration. One of the most enlightening of such decisions is: In re *The Atwater Manufacturing Company, United Steel Workers of America. Local 3456, C.I.O.*, Case No. 133-4950-150, December 7, 1949, 13 L.A. 747 decided by the Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration composed of Joseph F. Donnelly, Mitchell Sviridoff and W. Stuart Clark.

The company, in the *Atwater* case took the position; (1) that the collective bargaining agreement by its terms provided that only disputes as to the meaning and application of the terms of the agreement are arbitrable; (2) no agreement is arbitrable unless it is processed in accord with the grievance procedure. Under position (1), the basic question was whether or not a discharge of employees was an arbitrable dispute or grievance. The employer contended that it was not and the union contended that it was.

The company claimed that discharges are not arbitrable since the agreement provides only for the arbitration of disputes as to the meaning and application of the agreement and the agreement has no clause covering discharge. The union claimed, as does plaintiff, that if

the employer has the right to arbitrarily discharge his employees, many of the most important provisions of the agreement have little meaning. The Board of Arbitration accepted the union's position and stated that no sound argument could be made against it because if the company by a unilateral decision may discharge without restriction or protest the company could also violate many of the provisions of the agreement without restriction or protest by simply discharging this or that employee. As a result the seniority clause would not have any meaning whatsoever and there would be no restriction of any effect as to lay-offs. The company, by simply discharging this employee or that employee when it chooses and without regard to cause, could discharge those employees with the highest seniority rating and in effect completely disregard the seniority provisions of the collective bargaining agreement. The Board of Arbitration stated its position in the following language:

“If the Company can discharge without cause, it can lay off without cause. It can recall, transfer, or promote in violation of the seniority provisions simply by invoking its claimed right to discharge. Thus to interpret the agreement in accord with the claim of the Company would reduce to anullity the fundamental provisions of a labor-management agreement — the security of a worker in his job.”

The defendant, in the present case, argues that there is nothing in the written collective bargaining agreement

which specifically covers the company's right to discharge or any restrictions on that right. The same thing was true in the *Atwater* case and the Board of Arbitrators in discussing and disposing of such contentions stated as follows (p.749, 750):

“In view of the above, it is difficult to accept the company's claim that since the agreement contains no expressed limitation of managements discretion in the matter of discharges, its action is not reviewable under the grievance procedure. Such a provision either explicit or implicit is seldom found in the collective bargaining agreement today.

“The fact is that the agreement does not, in specific language, confer on management the right to discharge at will, nor does it, by specific language confer upon the union the right to process discharges under the grievance procedure. Hence, the dispute here is not one as to the application of specific terms of the agreement but rather a dispute as to the meaning of the provisions in the agreement and as such by mutual agreement of the parties properly, it is within the jurisdiction of the Board. This point deserves further discussion.”

The Board then discussed the nature of collective bargaining agreements and the restrictions that such an agreement placed both on the employees' rights and on the employer's rights and then as its conclusion, it stated as follows:

“In the instant case, the Company claims an unlimited right to discharge. The basis of its claims is that the agreement does not state that the company does not have this right. The fact is, however, that in the agreement both the company and union have agreed on definite employee rights, which rights would be meaningless if they did not necessarily imply a severe modification of the company’s right to discharge. We must consider the agreement to be logical and consistent and we must conclude that the parties deliberately worked for that logic and consistency in drawing the agreement.

“Thus, the explicit terms of the agreement by establishing rights which are wholly inconsistent with the claims of the company must logically be considered to have modified any claimed rights which are not fairly expressed and which are inconsistent with the explicit terms of the agreement. In the face of that conclusion, the claim of the company will not stand.”

The decision of the Board of Arbitrators then quoted extensively from a prior decision written by one Saul Wallen and a part of the portion of his decision quoted reads as follows (p.750):

“In our opinion, the meaning of the contract, (collective bargaining contract), when viewed as a whole is that a limitation on the employer’s right to discharge was created with the birth of the instrument. Both the necessity of maintaining the integrity of the contract’s component parts and the very nature of collective bargaining agreements are the basis for this conclusion. Inasmuch

as this limitation is an implied term of the contract, discharges are subject to the grievance procedure and arbitration.”

The decision of the Board of Arbitration was that discharges are arbitrable grievances under the collective bargaining agreement even though they are not specifically mentioned by the agreement, and further that the contract which provides for seniority rights and worker's security implied provides that the employer shall not have an unrestricted, unlimited right to discharge without cause.

An additional case on the question of a right of an employer to discharge without cause, employees who are under a collective bargaining agreement is *In re Standard Oil Company & Central States Petroleum Union, Western Michigan Petroleum Association, Local 103*, Case No. 50A-129, April 12, 1950, 14 L.A. 516. This decision was made by a three man Board of Arbitration under the laws of the State of Michigan. The Board of Arbitration had to consider the question of whether or not the company was within its right in discharging certain employees and whether or not the company is required to submit the question of their discharge to arbitration. As stated in the decision of the Board, the question was as follows: Whether or not where the current contract is entirely silent on the question of discharges, the company's right to relieve an employee from its service with or without

cause rests exclusively with management and its action in respect thereto is challengeable.

The Board of Arbitration points out in the decision that the company had followed practice of not discharging its employees without good and sufficient cause.

It will be noted that in the decision of the Arbitrator, Mr. Leary recites the fact that the defendant assigned a cause for the discharge of plaintiff and on two other occasions, when discharges were made of employees, they were the subject of grievance procedures. Plaintiff herself, as president of the Union, had discussed with American Linen grievance officials the discharge of two employees, namely, Ida Gertz and Darlene Fowler, (R 51).

Plaintiff submits that both the employees and the employer have followed a uniform course in the interpretation of the Master Agreement. The employees have always claimed that they had a right to continuing employment which could not be terminated without just cause. The defendant, has recognized that claim because it has never attempted to discharge without cause.

An additional decision out of the State of Connecticut and from the State Board of Mediation and Arbitration is *In re Whitney Chain Company, United Automobile Aircraft and Agricultural Implement Workers of America, Local 199, C.I.O.*, Case No. 5354-705, March 16,

1955, 24 L.A. 385. There, the Board of Arbitration held that the company's right to discharge was a proper subject for arbitration. That the company did not have a right to discharge without cause, even though there was no specific term which prohibited the company from discharging without cause. The decision was made in the face of a claim by the management that the right of discharge was one vested exclusively in the management and therefore, not subject to arbitration. The Board decided that there must be proper cause shown by management before a discharge can be upheld. An additional decision from a Board of Arbitration is *In re Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc., International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffers, Warehousemen and Helpers of America, C.I.O.* 391, *A.F.L.*, No. 1, June 21, 1954, 22 L.A. 761. A three member Board of Arbitration in Pennsylvania rendered the following decision (p. 761):

“Despite absence of contract clause requiring that discharges be for just cause, the employer may not discharge without just cause, since one of the passive assumptions underlying every collective bargaining agreement is that employer will not arbitrarily exercise his power to discharge.”

In addition to the claim that the terms of the Master Agreement did not give to plaintiff a right to any job security whatsoever nor any protection against arbitrary, capricious and willful discharges, defendant claims that there is no right under the Master Agreement to arbi-

trate or even consider controversies arising out of wrongful discharges. Their position is that Article X, entitled "Arbitration", does not cover wrongful discharges. Article X states:

"All controversies as to the interpretation and application of this Master Agreement that cannot be settled by a representative of the employer and the union," etc. shall be submitted to arbitrators.

On very similar language it has been held that cause for discharge was a matter subject to arbitration. *Lee Farris v. Alaska Airlines Inc.*, 32 L.A. 3547.

The United States Supreme Court has held that an agreement which provided that the rights of discharged employees could not be arbitrated violates the National Labor Relations Act. The inclusion of such a provision in a contract is an unfair labor practice. Defendant now contends and asks this court to hold that an agreement which does not, by its specific terms, prohibit arbitration on discharges does so by inference. See *National Licorice Co. v. National Labor Relations Board*, 309 U.S. 350, 60 S.Ct. 569.

The Supreme Court of the United States in the *National Licorice Co.* case had before it a contract which had been entered into by a union dominated by the employer. The employer by the terms of the contract, re-

quired each employee to agree not to demand a closed shop or a signed agreement by his employer with any union. The agreement contained language which prohibited collective bargaining or arbitration with respect to the discharge of employees. It provided that a discharged employee could submit to his employer a statement indicating that his discharge was unreasonable. Then the agreement stipulated that the question as to the propriety of an employee discharge could in no event be one for arbitration or mediation (60 S.Ct 575).

Justice Stone specifically stated that such a provision in a collective bargaining agreement was an unfair labor practice. A later circuit court case interpreting and applying the *National Licorice Co.* case is *Inland Steel Co. v. National Labor Relations Board of United Steel Workers of America, C.I.O. et al, v. National Labor Relations Board*, 170 F.2d 247. In clear and unequivocal language, the decision sets forth the background and philosophy behind the Supreme Court decision (p.252):

“The Supreme Court, in *National Licorice Co. V. N.L.R.B.*, 390 U.S. 350, 360, 60 S.Ct. 569, 84 L.Ed. 799, held that collective bargaining extends to matters involving discharge actions and, as already noted, the Company in its contract with the Union has so recognized. We are unable to differentiate between the conceded right of a Union to bargain concerning a discharge, and particularly a nondiscriminatory discharge of any employee and its right to bargain concerning the age

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